#### IN THE

### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARLOS CROMARTIE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC09-1868

District Court Case No. 1D07-352

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

MICHAEL UFFERMAN Michael Ufferman Law Firm, P.A. 2022-1 Raymond Diehl Road Tallahassee, Florida 32308 (850) 386-2345/fax (850) 224-2340 FL Bar No. 114227

Email: ufferman@uffermanlaw.com

Counsel for Petitioner **CROMARTIE** 

## A.

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

The issue in this case concerns whether a sentencing error that results in the denial of a defendant's constitutional due process rights amounts to fundamental error. Although this brief will provide a brief background of the procedural posture of the case, the brief will focus on this sentencing issue (i.e., the facts from the trial are not relevant to the issue before the Court).

Carlos Cromartie (hereinafter "Petitioner Cromartie") was charged in Leon County, Florida, with trafficking in cocaine (count 1)<sup>1</sup> and sale or possession of cocaine with intent to sell within 1000 feet of a church (count 2).<sup>2</sup> (R-2).<sup>3</sup> Count 1 allegedly occurred on March 4, 2005, and count 2 allegedly occurred on February 24, 2005.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See § 893.135, Fla. Stat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See § 893.13(1)(e)1., Fla. Stat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> References to the pleadings portion of the First District Court of Appeal record (case number 1D07-352) will be made by the designation "R" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the trial transcript will be made by the designation "T" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the jury selection transcript will be made by the designation "JS" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the sentencing transcript will be made by the designation "S" followed by the appropriate page number. References to the resentencing transcript will be made by the designation "RS" followed by the appropriate page number.

Petitioner Cromartie was represented at trial by Barbara K. Hobbs, Esquire.

The State was represented by Assistant State Attorney Jon Fuchs. The Honorable Kathleen Dekker presided over the trial.

The trial jury was selected on October 9, 2006 (JS-1), and the trial was conducted on October 13, 2006. (T-1). At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Petitioner Cromartie guilty as charged for both offenses. (R-74-75; T-86).

Petitioner Cromartie was originally sentenced on December 18, 2006. (S-1). On the Criminal Punishment Code scoresheet, the lowest permissible sentence was 7.83 years' imprisonment. (R-82). The trial court sentenced Petitioner Cromartie to eight years' imprisonment for both counts, with the sentences to run concurrently (which was essentially the lowest permissible sentence on the scoresheet – the sentence was increased by .17 years). (S-23; R-80). A timely notice of appeal was filed on January 16, 2007. (R-89).

Petitioner Cromartie subsequently filed a motion to correct sentencing error pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b). (R-108). In the motion, Petitioner Cromartie explained that the State improperly scored count 1 (trafficking) as a level 8 offense (instead of a level 7 offense) on the Criminal Punishment Code scoresheet. The trial court granted the rule 3.800(b) motion and the case was set for a resentencing hearing. (R-146). A corrected Criminal

Punishment Code scoresheet was prepared and on the corrected scoresheet, the lowest permissible sentence was 6.16 years' imprisonment. (RS-2).

The resentencing hearing was held on November 14, 2007. (RS-1). At the resentencing hearing, the parties agreed that the lowest permissible sentence on the scoresheet was 73.95 months or 6.16 years. (RS-2). Undersigned counsel requested that the trial court sentence Petitioner Cromartie consistent with the approach/formula used at the original sentencing hearing (i.e., add .17 to the lowest permissible sentence on the scoresheet, resulting in a sentence of 6.33 years' imprisonment). (RS-3). The trial court declined undersigned counsel's request and – over objection – sentenced Petitioner Cromartie to seven years' imprisonment for both counts, with the sentences to run concurrently. (RS-10; R-147). The trial court explained that its policy in these situations is to always "round up" to the next year (i.e., from 6.16 to 7). (RS-6).4

(RS-8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The trial court explained that "I usually round up" and "if [the minimum sentence on the scoresheet is] in the ballpark, I round up." (RS-6). The trial court added, "I round off in years" and "I always round up." (RS-7). Finally, the trial court stated:

But I'm telling you in the real world whether you give somebody nine years or ten years just doesn't matter, you know. It just doesn't. And to have – that's an argument over minutia.

Petitioner Cromartie later filed a second rule 3.800(b) motion arguing that the trial court's "round up" policy is arbitrary and consequently a denial of constitutional due process principles.<sup>5</sup> (R-166). The trial court denied the second rule 3.800(b) motion. (R-171).

On direct appeal, the First District Court of Appeal agreed that the trial court's "round up" policy was improper, but the district court held that this issue was not preserved for appeal because there was no contemporaneous objection and the issue could not be properly raised in a rule 3.800(b) motion:

We find merit in Appellant's argument that the trial judge's stated policy of mechanically rounding up a prison sentence to the nearest whole number (in this case, from 7.83 years to 8 years originally and from 6.16 years to 7 years on resentencing) without any reflection on the individual merits of a particular defendant's case is arbitrary and consequently a denial of due process. Yet we are constrained to AFFIRM as the argument was not raised contemporaneously. *See Jackson v. State*, 983 So. 2d 562 (Fla. 2008); *Brown v. State*, 994 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008).

Cromartie v. State, 16 So. 3d 882, 882-83 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009). Thus, the First District held that the error in Petitioner Cromartie's case did not amount to fundamental error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See U.S. Const. amend. XIV; art. I, § 9, Fla. Const.

Petitioner Cromartie subsequently sought review in this Court, arguing that the First District's opinion conflicts with decisions from this Court and other district courts concerning whether a sentencing error that violates constitutional due process principles amounts to fundamental error. On July 7, 2010, the Court accepted jurisdiction.

#### D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

In its decision below, the First District Court of Appeal agreed that the trial court's "round up" policy violated constitutional due process principles. Yet, the district court refused to grant relief because Petitioner Cromartie did not contemporaneously object to the error. Petitioner Cromartie submits that a sentencing error that results in the denial of a defendant's constitutional due process rights amounts to fundamental error that can be raised for the first time on appeal. Alternatively, Petitioner Cromartie submits that he properly preserved his claim of error pursuant to his Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) motion.

#### E. ARGUMENT AND CITATIONS OF AUTHORITY.

A sentencing error that violates constitutional due process principles amounts to fundamental error.

#### 1. Standard of Review.

Petitioner Cromartie submits that the issue in this case is a pure question of law and therefore the standard of review is *de novo*. *See D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice*, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003) ("The standard of review for the pure questions of law before us is *de novo*.").

### 2. Argument.

The issue in this case concerns whether a sentencing error that results in the denial of a defendant's constitutional due process rights<sup>6</sup> amounts to fundamental error. In its decision below, the First District Court of Appeal agreed that the trial court's "round up" policy violated constitutional due process principles:

We find merit in Appellant's argument that the trial judge's stated policy of mechanically rounding up a prison sentence to the nearest whole number (in this case, from 7.83 years to 8 years originally and from 6.16 years to 7 years on resentencing) without any reflection on the individual merits of a particular defendant's case is arbitrary and consequently a denial of due process.

 $<sup>^6</sup>$  See U.S. Const. amend. XIV; art. I,  $\S$  9, Fla. Const.

Cromartie v. State, 16 So. 3d 882, 882-83 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009). See also United States v. Fisher, 502 F.3d 293, 306 (3d Cir. 2007) ("[S]entences based upon arbitrary or impermissible considerations . . . offend [] due process principles . . . ."). Nevertheless, the First District denied relief, finding that this issue was not preserved for appeal because there was no contemporaneous objection and concluding that the issue could not be properly raised in a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) motion:

Yet we are constrained to AFFIRM as the argument was not raised contemporaneously. *See Jackson v. State*, 983 So. 2d 562 (Fla. 2008); *Brown v. State*, 994 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008).

*Cromartie*, 16 So. 3d at 883. Petitioner Cromartie submits that, contrary to the First District's holding, if a sentencing error results in a violation of a defendant's constitutional due process rights, then the error is fundamental and can be considered on appeal despite the failure of counsel to contemporaneously object to the error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Pursuant to the trial court's "round up" policy, defendants with different scoresheet totals were given the same sentence, even though one defendant's scoresheet total was much less than another defendant's scoresheet total (i.e., a defendant with a scoresheet total of 6.1 received a seven-year sentence, and a defendant with a scoresheet total of 6.9 or 7 also received a seven-year sentence). For those whose sentences were "rounded up the most" (i.e., from .1 to the next year), this arbitrary policy resulted in a portion of the sentence (as much as 10.8 months) being based on chance and luck. This was especially true in the context of resentencing hearings (as in the instant case), where the trial court's "round up" amount at the resentencing hearing was greater than the "round up" amount utilized at the original sentencing hearing.

In *Jackson v. State*, 983 So. 2d 562, 574 (Fla. 2008), the Court recognized that: (1) where there is no contemporaneous objection during a sentencing hearing and (2) where the error does not qualify as a "sentencing error" that can be raised in a rule 3.800(b) motion, the error can still be considered and remedied on appeal if the error is fundamental. Notably, the Court stated that "for an error to be so fundamental that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review *and equivalent to a denial of due process*." *Jackson*, 983 So. 2d at 575 (quoting *Hopkins v. State*, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1374 (Fla. 1994)) (emphasis added).

Florida district courts have also concluded that sentencing errors that result in a violation of a defendant's constitutional due process rights are fundamental and can be considered on appeal despite the failure of counsel to contemporaneously object to the error. For example, in *Hannum v. State*, 13 So. 3d 132, 135-36 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009), the trial court improperly considered certain factors when imposing the defendant's sentence (i.e., the trial court considered the fact that the defendant maintained his innocence and refused to take responsibility for his actions). Notably, as in Petitioner Cromartie's case, the defendant in *Hannum* attempted to preserve his sentencing claim by filing a rule 3.800(b)

motion. The Second District Court of Appeal held that pursuant to this Court's opinion in *Jackson*, the issue could not be preserved pursuant to rule 3.800(b):

Initially, we must point out that rule 3.800(b)(2) is not the proper mechanism for preserving for appeal the issue of whether the court improperly considered certain factors in imposing sentence. *See Jackson v. State*, 983 So. 2d 562 (Fla. 2008); *Brown v. State*, 994 So. 2d 480, 481 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008). Rule 3.800(b)(2) was not intended to correct any errors that occur during the sentencing process. *Jackson*, 983 So. 2d at 572. Instead, rule 3.800(b)(2) "may be used to correct and preserve for appeal any error in an order entered as a result of the sentencing process — that is, orders related to the sanctions imposed." *Id.* at 574. Any error in the court's consideration of certain factors in imposing sentence is an error in the sentencing process, not an error in the sentencing order. *See Brown*, 994 So. 2d at 481. Therefore, the court erred in ruling on the merits of Hannum's rule 3.800(b)(2) motion, and its order is a nullity.

Hannum, 13 So. 3d at 135 (footnote omitted). However, after concluding that the issue was not preserved, the Second District proceeded to consider whether the trial court erred and, if so, whether the error amounted to fundamental error:

This determination does not end our inquiry into the propriety of the court's consideration of certain factors in imposing sentence, however. Such an error in the reasoning of the judge is cognizable on direct appeal if it is fundamental. [Brown, 994 So. 2d at 481] (citing Jackson, 983 So. 2d at 574). "[F]or an error to be so fundamental that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process." Hopkins v. State, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1374 (Fla. 1994) (alteration in original) (quoting State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1993)). We must therefore consider whether the trial court's comments at sentencing were so erroneous as to be equivalent to a denial of due process.

*Id.* (emphasis added). The Second District ultimately concluded that the trial court erred and that the error amounted to fundamental error:

It is impermissible for a trial court to consider a defendant's assertions of his innocence and refusal to admit guilt in imposing sentence. *See Bracero v. State*, 10 So. 3d 664, 665-666 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009); *Ritter v. State*, 885 So. 2d 413, 414 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). In this case, Hannum maintained his innocence throughout sentencing and the trial court twice remarked that it was troubled by Hannum's failure to take responsibility for his actions. The more Hannum asserted his innocence, the more frustrated the court became, eventually remarking that "the longer [Hannum] talks, perhaps the worst [sic] it's getting." The court even told defense counsel it would be best if Hannum did not make any more statements.

Moreover, the court also improperly considered the truthfulness of Hannum's testimony at trial. *See City of Daytona Beach v. Del Percio*, 476 So. 2d 197, 205 (Fla. 1985); *Eltaher v. State*, 777 So. 2d 1203, 1205 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). A court may not rely on a defendant's lack of truthfulness in imposing sentence because it "would create a catch-22 – the defendant may not be punished for his exercise of the right to trial but may be punished for his lack of candor during the trial." *Del Percio*, 476 So. 2d at 205.

The trial court's improper consideration of the fact that Hannum maintained his innocence in his testimony at trial and at sentencing and refused to take responsibility for his actions was equivalent to a denial of due process. See Bracero, 10 So. 3d at 665-666. Although the court offered additional reasons to justify its sentence in ruling on Hannum's rule 3.800(b)(2) motion, the court's order on the motion is a nullity. Regardless, the court's original statements at sentencing were not ambiguous in any manner and expressly addressed these improper factors. Accordingly, the trial court committed fundamental error in imposing sentence. We therefore reverse Hannum's sentence and remand for resentencing before a different judge. See id.

*Id.* at 135-36 (emphasis added) (alterations in the original). Hence, in *Hannum*, because the error resulted in a denial of due process, the Second District concluded that the error amounted to fundamental error.<sup>8</sup>

In the decision below, the First District held that the trial court's "round up" policy resulted in "a denial of due process." *Cromartie*, 16 So. 3d at 883. However, the district court held that the error did not amount to fundamental error. Pursuant to this Court's holdings in *Jackson* and *Hopkins* and the Second District's holding in *Hannum*, the First District should have found that the error in this case was fundamental in light of the fact that the First District concluded that the error resulted in a denial of Petitioner Cromartie's constitutional due process rights. Accordingly, the decision below should be quashed. Petitioner Cromartie submits that he is entitled to a new sentencing hearing.

Finally, Petitioner Cromartie submits that the error in this case was properly preserved for appellate review (either by contemporaneous objection or by the filing of a rule 3.800(b) motion). Petitioner Cromartie acknowledges that in *Jackson*, the Court stated that rule 3.800(b) "was never intended to allow a defendant (or defense counsel) to sit silent in the face of a procedural error in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Petitioner Cromartie notes that in a case decided after his case, the First District has applied *Hannum* to conclude that a sentencing error that results in a denial of a defendant's due process rights amounts to fundamental error. *See Nawaz v. State*, 28 So. 3d 122 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010).

sentencing process and then, if unhappy with the result, file a motion under rule 3.800(b)." Jackson, 983 So. 2d at 573. Clearly, in the instant case, undersigned counsel did not "sit silent in the face of a procedural error in the sentencing process." At the resentencing hearing, undersigned counsel requested that the trial court sentence Petitioner Cromartie consistent with the approach/formula used at the original sentencing hearing (i.e., add .2 to the lowest permissible sentence on the scoresheet, resulting in a sentence of 6.3 years' imprisonment). (RS-3). The trial court declined undersigned counsel's request and sentenced Petitioner Cromartie to seven years' imprisonment, based on its policy of "rounding up" to the next non-"decimal fraction" numeral. (RS-10; R-147). Undersigned counsel immediately objected, asserting that the trial court's formula for the resentencing hearing should be the same as the formula that was used at the original sentencing hearing:

MR. UFFERMAN: . . . [Y]ou went above [the lowest permissible sentence on the sentencing scoresheet] .2 last time. So again for the record my argument is that it should be .2 again this time.

THE COURT: You've made your argument.

(RS-10).9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Petitioner Cromartie submits that undersigned counsel's argument/objection at the resentencing hearing was sufficient, by itself, to preserve the instant claim for appellate review.

Moreover, at the conclusion of the resentencing hearing (and after undersigned counsel had a further opportunity to research the issue), undersigned counsel supplemented his objection with the argument contained in the rule 3.800(b) motion (i.e., not only should the trial court have followed the same procedure from the first sentencing hearing, but the trial court's policy of "rounding up" is arbitrary and a violation of constitutional due process principles). (R-166). Thus, the trial court had the opportunity to address Petitioner Cromartie's due process claim and correct the error (although the trial court chose instead to (R-171). Petitioner Cromartie submits that the procedure deny the claim). followed in this case is consistent with the purpose of rule 3.800(b). Amendments to Fla. Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111(e) & 3.800 & Fla. Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140, & 9.600, 761 So. 2d 1015, 1018 (Fla. 1999) ("Trial courts thus have the opportunity to address and correct sentencing errors, which might eliminate the need for an appeal in many cases and also reduce the number of postconviction motions related to sentencing and appeals therefrom.").

Although Petitioner Cromartie did not use the "magic words" "due process" during the resentencing hearing, Petitioner Cromartie clearly objected to the trial court's procedure. And when undersigned counsel had an opportunity to further research the issue and discover cases indicating that the trial court's procedure

amounted to a violation of constitutional due process rights, undersigned counsel filed a rule 3.800(b) motion, thereby affording the trial court with an opportunity to correct the error.<sup>10</sup> In light of this record, Petitioner Cromartie submits that the sentencing error was sufficiently preserved for appellate review

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Petitioner Cromartie submits that a constitutional due process claim challenging a trial judge's arbitrary round-up policy can be preserved for appeal pursuant to rule 3.800(b).

# F. CONCLUSION.

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