IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARLOS CROMARTIE,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC09-1868

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF

THOMAS H. DUFFY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 992-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court lacks jurisdiction as there is no express and direct conflict of opinions between the factually driven decision below and the factually driven, and legally inapposite, decision in Hannum. This Court should discharge jurisdiction as improvidently granted and dismiss review.

As to the merits, the record shows that Judge Dekker did, in fact, consider individual factors in sentencing Petitioner to slightly above the lowest permissible sentence. She had heard testimony from Petitioner and his supporters in the initial sentencing and, upon resentencing, relied on those factors to sentence Petitioner somewhat lower than she would have done without having heard that testimony.

Moreover, her practice of sentencing in terms of years, rather than months and fractions thereof, which she said she does not invariably apply, is not impermissible and did not deprive Petitioner of due process.

Petitioner received all the process he was due: He had notice and opportunity to be heard and was provided counsel to argue for him. The sentence was legal, was not vindictive and was not based on constitutionally impermissible factors.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER JURISDICTION WAS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED; IF NOT, WHETHER PETITIONER CONTEMPORANEOUSLY OBJECTED; WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE DEPRIVED PETITIONER OF DUE PROCESS DURING SENTENCING AND, IF SO, WHETHER THE DENIAL WAS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR. (Restated)

A. INTRODUCTION

1. Issues Raised

The ultimate issue in this case is whether a sentencing process error, as opposed to an error in the sentence itself, see Jackson v. State, 983 So. 2d 562, 573-74 (Fla. 2008), is per se fundamental error. The Court has accepted jurisdiction based on alleged express and direct conflict with Hannum v. State, 13 So. 3d 132 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009); to the extent conflict can be discerned between these two legally and factually dissimilar cases, it would have to arise from a belief that, irrespective of circumstances, any error in the sentencing process would be fundamental.

Before discussing that ultimate question, however, the State will take up other matters, which logically should be addressed first. First, that this Court lacks jurisdiction as there is no express and direct conflict of opinions. Second, that, contrary to Petitioner's argument, there was no contemporaneous objection either of the times Judge Dekker sentenced him. Third, that Judge Dekker did, in fact, consider individual factors in sentencing

Petitioner. Fourth, that the practice of "usually round[ing] up" or even "always rounding up" is not a deprivation of due process. Fifth, that even if it were a denial of due process, it would not be fundamental error.

2. The Trial Court's Ruling

Circuit Judge Kathleen Dekker granted Petitioner's initial motion to correct a sentencing error and resentenced him to seven years in prison, which was 0.84 years above the minimum permitted sentence of 6.16 years. She then denied a successive motion to correct sentencing error wherein Petitioner attempted to raise, for the first time, his due process claim.

3. The Opinion Below

The First District Court of Appeal held that what it perceived as Judge Dekker's "stated policy of mechanically rounding up a prison sentence to the nearest whole number . . . without any reflecting on the individual merits of a particular defendant's case is arbitrary and consequently a denial of due process," but held that the issue was not preserved so the trial court's ruling was not fundamental error. 16 So. 3d at 882-83.

B. JURISDICTION

1. This Court Should Dismiss For Lack of Jurisdiction

The decision below in this case is, if nothing else, a model of brevity, consisting of two sentences and two citations. The

holding is that a "stated policy of rounding up a prison sentence to the nearest whole number . . . without any reflection on the individual merits of a particular defendant's case is arbitrary and consequently a denial of due process," but one that requires a contemporaneous objection and, presumably, is not fundamental error. 16 So. 2d at 882-83.

The decision in *Hannum* does not involve a policy of rounding up a sentence to the nearest whole number. Rather, it involved a trial judge who refused to consider anything short of a prison sentence because the defendant maintained his innocence and because, in the trial judge's opinion, he did not testify truthfully at trial. 13 So. 3d at 135-36. Because it is improper to hold a defendant's refusal to admit guilt or his trial testimony against him when imposing sentence, the Second DCA held that the trial court committed fundamental error, excusing the defendant's failure to object to the sentence until his motion under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b). *Id.* at 136.

The Second DCA's decision is premised on certain facts, specifically, the trial judge's decision to sentence based on the defendant's constitutionally protected decisions to demand a trial and testify in his own behalf. The First DCA's decision was premised on certain different facts, specifically, Judge Dekker's policy of imposing a sentence no lower than a term of years no

lower than the next-highest whole number, rather than the decimally expressed lowest permissible sentence from the Criminal Punishment Code sentencing scoresheet.

Factual identity between cases alleged to be in conflict is an absolute requirement, as this Court has repeatedly held. See, e.g., Robinson v. State, 770 So. 2d 1167, 1170 (Fla. 2000)(finding no conflict in cases involving "various factually distinguishable contexts"); Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So. 2d 950, 951-52 (Fla. 1983).

Moreover, neither decision involves a statement of the law that conflicts with the other. The First DCA did not hold that no due process errors can be fundamental error; the Second DCA did not hold that all due process errors are fundamental errors.

The provisions of article 5, section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitutions, for accepting conflict not having been met, this Court should acknowledge that jurisdiction has been improvidently granted and dismiss this case.

C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The ultimate issue, whether a sentencing process error, as opposed to an error in the sentence itself is per se fundamental error, is a question of law. Inasmuch as neither the court below nor the conflict court addressed this issue, there is no decision to review on that point, so this Court will consider it de novo. As

to the underlying points: Unpreserved issues are reviewed for fundamental error. § 924.051(3) Fla. Stat. If the error were preserved, the lower court's decision would be reviewed for abuse of discretion. See, e.g., Nusspickel v. State, 966 So. 2d 441, 444 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007); Brown v. State, 667 So. 2d 901, 902 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

D. MERITS

Petitioner argues that the trial court's sentence must be reversed because it was imposed based upon a policy wherein the judge imposed sentences that were in whole numbers of years; such a sentencing philosophy is fundamental error, he asserts. He also argues that the due process issue was preserved for appellate review. The State respectfully disagrees.

First, as noted above, jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

Second, the issue was not preserved and was, in fact, waived when Petitioner embraced the concept of rounding up to nearest whole number of years above the lowest permissible sentence.

Third, the trial court gave the defendant's crime and his background due consideration and did not sentence him automatically.

Fourth, a policy of rounding off sentences to express them in terms of years, rather than months and fractions thereof, is not a denial of due process. Defendants are not entitled to a particular

sentence under the Criminal Punishment Code, only to a sentence within a certain broad range.

Fifth, even if Judge Dekker's practice were considered a due process violation, it would not constitute fundamental error.

1. The Issue Was Not Preserved

Petitioner asserts that preserved this issue, arguing that his objection to the sentence was sufficient to preserve the due process issue, characterizing his successive Rule 3.800(b) motion as a "supplement[]," and maintaining that his successive motion was "consistent with the purpose of rule 3.800(b)." IB at 13-14.

The State respectfully disagrees. Petitioner did not contemporaneously object to the trial judge's "rounding up" approach either at the first sentencing hearing, via his first Rule 3.800(b) motion or during the resentencing hearing. Moreover, he waived any objection he might have had by embracing the rounding up approach at the resentencing. Finally, a Rule 3.800(b) motion is an inappropriate vehicle for raising a sentencing process error, such as rounding up to an even number of years when imposing a sentence at the low end of the permitted sentencing range.

Petitioner's argument that he actually did preserve the issue in his first Rule 3.800(b) motion and at the resentencing hearing is belied by the record, which shows that the second Rule 3.800(b) motion was, in fact, intended to preserve an issue that was not

raised earlier. Petitioner's motion states: "At the November 14, 2007, hearing, undersigned did not make a due process claim. Out of an abundance of caution, Defendant Cromartie files the instant motion in order to preserve his constitutional claim on appeal." (4th Supp.: 168, n.1)

After the motion was filed and denied, this Court decided Jackson. That opinion clarified the distinction between sentencing errors which can be raised in a Rule 3.800(b)(2) motion and errors occurring during the sentencing process (or sentencing process errors) which are still subject to the contemporaneous objection rule.

When a sentence is erroneous, it is more efficient to address the issue in the trial court first, where it can be quickly remedied. In many circumstances, however, defendants do not have the opportunity to object or otherwise address the trial court before the sentencing order is entered. For example, where the written sentence deviates from an oral pronouncement, the defendant has no reason to object at the sentencing; only when the sentencing order issues does the defendant notice the discrepancy. Before rule 3.800(b), however, no mechanism existed for the defendant to remedy the error in the trial court. The only remedy was to appeal the sentence. The rule was designed to remedy that institutional inefficiency.

In contrast, defendants do have the opportunity to object to many errors that occur during the sentencing process-for example, the introduction of evidence at sentencing. The rule was never intended to allow a defendant (or defense counsel) to sit silent in the face of a procedural error in the sentencing process and then, if unhappy with the result, file a motion under rule 3.800(b). To the contrary, such a practice undermines the goal of addressing errors at the earliest opportunity.

Jackson, 983 So. 2d at 573.

In Jackson the defendant attempted to raise the claim that he was denied counsel during his sentencing hearing via a Rule 3.800(b)(2) motion. Id. at 574. This Court held that the claim is a sentencing process error claim, not a sentencing error that is, unlike here, apparent on the face of the sentencing order:

Thus, as written, rule 3.800(b) is not limited to correcting "illegal" sentences or errors to which the defendant had no opportunity to object. Instead, the rule may be used to correct and preserve for appeal any error in an order entered as a result of the sentencing process-that is, orders related to the sanctions imposed. A claim of denial of counsel at sentencing, however, is an error in the sentencing process, not an error in the sentencing order. Therefore, such a claim is not cognizable in a motion under rule 3.800(b) and no such motion must be filed for the appellate court to consider the issue.

Id. See, also, Brown v. State, 994 So. 2d 480, 482 (Fla. 1st DCA
2008).

In this case, Petitioner had several opportunities to raise his due process claim. He could have objected during the sentencing hearing, given Judge Dekker's statements on the record that she was rounding up. He could have raised the argument in his first Rule 3.800(b) motion, and did not. And he could have, and should have, raised the issue in the resentencing hearing.

Rather than objecting, however, Petitioner in fact, waived the argument. In the resentencing hearing Petitioner expressed both understanding of the trial court's "rounding up" policy and

agreement with the decision to "round up" his score; his sole argument was that Judge Dekker should only round up on resentencing the same amount that she rounded up in the initial sentencing. (RS: 3, 7, 8) Petitioner thus embraced the concept of rounding up, rather than expressing his belief that the policy was unconstitutional or a deprivation of due process.

Because Petitioner agreed to the trial court's "rounding up," he cannot now complain on appeal that the trial court's unobjected-to policy of "rounding up" to the next year, as it did at his initial sentencing, is arbitrary and violates due process simply because the trial court rounded up more than he requested.

2. The Sentencing Decision Was Not Arbitrary

The decision below rests, in part, on the First DCA's assumption that the trial court did not consider the record in entering her sentence and its mischaracterization of her approach as "mechanically rounding up." Cromartie, 16 So. 3d at 882.

To the contrary, the record shows that Judge Dekker did not make her sentencing decision mechanically. Rather, it shows she considered Petitioner's background, his family support and his involvement in the crimes in question before imposing a sentence near the low end of the range.

At the initial sentencing hearing Judge Dekker heard five witnesses present character testimony and also heard Petitioner's

explanation. (S: 2-15, 19-23) Judge Dekker noted that the minimum sentence was 93.975 months, which she "round[ed] off to 94 months, that's 7.8 years. And I'll round it to 8 years." (S: 23) She continued:

My impression is that it could easily be 10 years. And so, because you have a good family support system, I'm will to stick with the 8 years. Because shy of that, it would have easily been 10 or more.

(S: 23) Thus, the decision to round off was not made as an abstraction but was in fact tailored to Petitioner's circumstances.

On resentencing, Judge Dekker relied on the previous hearing.

THE COURT: This is - let me give you my impression here to short circuit, perhaps, this. I mean, you're all welcome to do whatever, but this is how this plays out to me.

In refreshing my memory about this, I'm looking at the transcript, knowing my philosophies and how I do, I am confident that a year difference in the scoresheet would not have made a difference to me. So in other words, if the scoresheet had said - and this is 73 point - everybody agrees it's 73.95, which I divide by 12, is 6.16 years.

MR. UFFERMAN [Appellant's counsel]: That's correct.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, what - so my point is, is that there is nothing about the evidence or the sentence that I can recall or about my philosophy that I would have done anything different other than probably just say, okay. Fine. That 73.95 is okay. Now, except, I usually round up.

MR. UFFERMAN: Sure.

THE COURT: And it's because unless - and if I have a very deep concern that I would probably even go under the minimum if allowed, then I will stick with the exact

number on the scoresheet. Otherwise, you know, it just - it's in the ballpark, and if it's in the ballpark, I round up, unless there's an agreement to do something else. . . .

So employing that, my philosophy is - and I did state on the record that this could have easily been 10 years or more depending upon other circumstances. But those circumstances I didn't find to exist then. There's no reason to find they exist now, and to do anything.

So my feeling is 73.95 divided by 12 is 6.16, and I would round up to seven years, and that's what I would do. And I don't see really a big argument about doing something different, because I'm not going to - I cannot sit here in good faith and say I would have given him eight years no matter what the scoresheet said, because I really don't think that's true.

But at the same time I'm not so offended by the amount of the score that I'm going to say, or change my mind about what the facts showed, and say, oh, gee, I feel really bad for him, and I'm going to stick with 73.95 months.

* * *

THE COURT: I always round up. If it's over the years - because I never go below the minimum that I feel I'm required to. And if I - really doesn't make a difference. I mean, I know it matters to your client, every month and every day he does. But I'm telling you in the real world whether you give somebody nine years or ten years doesn't much matter, you know. It just doesn't. And to have - that's an argument over minutia.

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